#### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

4/18/2023

Ajay Walther

Date

# Enhancing Patient Retention in HIV Care: A Quality Improvement Project of the Emory Infectious Diseases Clinic Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program

By

Ajay Walther MPH

Hubert Department of Global Health

Ameeta Kalokhe, MD Committee Chair

Alan J. Bailey, Ph.D. DIC Committee Member

# Enhancing Patient Retention in HIV Care: A Quality Improvement Project of the Emory Infectious Diseases Clinic Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program

By

Ajay Walther Bachelor of Arts Washington University in St. Louis 2021

Thesis Committee Chair: Ameeta Kalokhe, MD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2023

#### Abstract

# Enhancing Patient Retention in HIV Care: A Quality Improvement Project of the Emory Infectious Diseases Clinic Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program

#### By Ajay Walther

**Background:** While HIV is no longer considered a death sentence due to the availability of highly effective treatments such as Antiretroviral Therapy (ART), patients today still face significant psychosocial barriers to care, particularly those who live in poverty or are of lower socioeconomic status. Retaining these patients in care is critical to achieving viral suppression and slowing the spread of the virus. The Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program at the Emory Infectious Disease clinic aims to provide patients with HIV care and social services if they meet certain criteria. To achieve this aim, traditional methods of patient retention such as phone-based interventions must be analyzed for their effectiveness, which is what this study aims to explore as a quasi-experimental quantitative study.

**Methods:** The methods used in this study involved chart extractions to examine the differences in patient attendances for HIV care visits between July and October of 2022. Phone calls were made to patients to assess why they missed appointments and comments were qualitatively recorded. Additionally, reminder calls were made to patients for appointments the next day. A numerical code was used during three separate analyses to highlight the frequencies of reasons for missed appointments.

**Results:** From July to October, the first analysis showed that a majority of patients contacted did not answer the phone (46.15%, 57%, 43.14% and 41.18% for each month). A second analysis conducted only focused on patients who did answer the phone and found that many patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments before the call, as well as that patients were either sick or had medical issues that prevented them from showing up. The no-show and appointment attendance rates did fluctuate from month to month, though several clinic staff anecdotally noted that the no-show rate fell during the course of the intervention.

**Conclusion:** The data collected over the course of four months at the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic in Midtown Atlanta gives a somewhat clearer picture of the kinds of barriers that patients face to being retained in care, but also more importantly shows how many patients are unreachable by phone.

## Enhancing Patient Retention in HIV Care: A Quality Improvement Project of the Emory Infectious Diseases Clinic Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program

By

Ajay Walther Bachelor of Arts Washington University in St. Louis 2021

Thesis Committee Chair: Ameeta Kalokhe, MD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2023

#### Acknowledgements

To my wonderful faculty advisor, Dr. Ameeta Kalokhe, and my research supervisor, Alan J. Bailey, who both have been incredibly kind, patient and supportive in helping me collect my data and write my thesis....thank you.

To all of my colleagues at the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic in Midtown Atlanta, from the nurses and doctors to all the clinic staff who created an unbelievably welcoming and nurturing space for me to work and thrive....thank you.

To my loving family....my mom, dad, younger brother, grandmother in India, aunts, uncles, cousins, family friends and all my extended family....who have always had my back and have pushed me to achieve my dreams with unconditional love and support....thank you.

To the lifelong friends I have made from high school, college, graduate school and beyond, without whom I can honestly say I wouldn't be who I am without and am unbelievably lucky to have in my life....thank you.

To my amazing roommate, Ajay P., and our neighbor Sam, who through many movie nights, pranks, hangouts and support sessions both have encouraged me to push through and write the best thesis I possibly could....thank you.

And finally to all the patients I spoke with on the phone, who's hardships and experiences that I never would have considered otherwise have opened my worldview and made me a more empathetic human being....thank you. And I see you.

## Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Overview of the Problem	1
Overview of the Project	2
Chapter 2: Literature Review	4
What is HIV & What is The Ryan White Program?	4
HIV	4
The Ryan White Program	5
Treatment Regimen and Continuum of Care for HIV	7
Antiretroviral Therapy	7
The Continuum of Care	8
Barriers & Facilitators to Retention in HIV Care	9
What are the Barriers?	9
What are the Facilitators?	10
The Power of Phone Calls & The Value of Human Interaction	11
Human vs. Non-Human	11
Aspects of Patient Retention - Two Types of Calls	13
Pre-Visit Reminder Phone Calls	13
Follow-Up Calls for Missed Visits	14
Gaps in Literature	15
What More Must Be Done?	15
Chapter 3: Methodology	17
Overview of Methods	17
Basic Structure	17
Setting	17
Population & Timeframe	
Study Design	18
Intervention	19
Data Collection	20
Analysis Methods & Use of Numerical Codes	21
Analysis of Psychosocial Barriers to Care	21
Analysis Methods for Non-Answering Patients	23

Chapter 4: Results & Analysis	24
Effect of Pre-Visit Reminder Phone Calls	24
Results of Psychosocial Barriers to Care	24
Results for Non-Answering Patients	28
Effect of Intervention on Appointment Attendance Rates	30
Rate of No-Show's	30
Rate of Arrived Appointments	30
Rate of Appointments Canceled Between 2 and 24 Hours Beforehand	31
Chapter 5: Discussion & Public Health Implications	32
Discussion	32
Summary of the Results	32
Results in Context of the Literature	34
Implications for the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic	35
Limitations of Study	37
Conclusion of Study	38
Implications for Public Health	38
Implications for Future Research	38
Implications for Future Practice	39
Implications for Future Policy	40
Chapter 6: Conclusion	41
<u>References</u>	
Appendix A	
Script for Calling Patients Who Missed Appointments	52
Appendix B	54
Script for Calling Patients to Remind of Appointments	54

#### **List of Figures**

Figure 1: Column structure of excel charts for patients who missed their appointments
Figure 2: Column structure of excel charts for patients who were reminded of appointments
Figure 3: Numerical code for reasons of missing visits
Figure 4: Numerical code for categories of unanswered calls
Figure 5: Breakdown of Analysis #1 which considers unanswered calls
Figure 6: Breakdown of Analysis #2 which does not consider unanswered calls
Figure 7: Breakdown of Analysis #3 which solely examines unanswered calls
Figure 8: Rates of Appointment Attendance and No-Show's

#### Abbreviations

HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ART: Antiretroviral Therapy
AIDS: Acquired Immuno-Deficiency Syndrome
CDC: Centers for Disease Control & Prevention
MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report
FPL: Federal Poverty Line
LVR: Latent Viral Reservoir
VHA: Veterans Health Administration
SMS: Short Messaging Service
MSM: Men who have Sex with Men
NIH: National Institute of Health
MRN: Medical Record Number
DOB: Date of Birth
EMR: Electronic Medical Record
MARTA: Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **Overview of The Problem**

One of the trickiest diseases in the field of infectious diseases isn't a typical virus spread by coughs between people, but rather through fluids such as blood or sperm (Visseaux et al. 2019). Known as Human Immunodeficiency Virus, or HIV for short, this disease has been around since the 1980s and is still considered a threat to human health around the globe. The first two decades of the HIV epidemic particularly wreaked havoc and brought death upon hundreds of thousands of people, many of whom had very little time between diagnosis and death (Agarwal-Jans 2020). The epidemic was also defined by fear, stigma and insensitivity against the people most vulnerable to HIV's spread ("World Health Organization," n.d.).

At the time of the epidemic, there was no effective treatment for HIV and there currently is no vaccine or immediate cure available (Pace and Frater 2014). Fortunately, however, contracting HIV today is no longer considered the death-sentence it once was due to the development of highly effective treatments (Pace and Frater 2014; (De Cock, Jaffe, and Curran 2012). Thanks to rapid advances in drug discovery, antiretroviral therapy (ART) has proved to be highly effective in suppressing HIV inside a person's immune system, which considerably improves a patient's chances of survival and offers a longer, quality life (De Cock, Jaffe and Curran 2012). Nevertheless, the success of ART for people living with HIV depends on adherence to treatment and retention in medical care over the course of treatment ("HIV Care Continuum" 2022). Given that many people living with HIV today still face significant challenges, which include stigma as well as socioeconomic and psychosocial barriers to care, much work needs to be done in coming closer to HIV elimination (Dasgupta et al. 2021). In particular, individuals living with HIV in the United States who have no medical insurance or are homeless have significant trouble staying in care long enough to achieve viral suppression (Dasgupta et al. 2021). Sometimes these factors result in patients not adhering to their treatment regimen. For patients who receive services from the Ryan White Program for HIV in Atlanta, Georgia, ensuring those patients remain in care and adhere to their treatment regimen is critical to achieving viral suppression. ("HIV Treatment Overview" 2022). Additionally, it's important to consider the psychosocial barriers that these patients may face. Since a qualification for services in the program in Fulton County Eligible Metropolitan Area in Georgia includes being 400% or below the Federal Poverty Line, lower-income patients may naturally experience barriers to care such as lack of access to transportation or technology, heavy stigma amongst family members or friends regarding HIV diagnosis, or food insecurity (Prabhu et al. 2020; "Department for HIV Elimination: Fulton County," n.d.).

#### **Overview of The Project**

Despite advances in technology that have made human capital less important, a traditional aspect of supporting patients to remain in care (retention) are phone calls to remind patients of appointments and follow-up phone calls to assess and address barriers to care among people who have missed HIV care appointments. With many hospital systems, including Emory in Atlanta, relying more and more on patient portal notifications (which can include text-messages or emails), having an empathetic, compassionate human voice to reach out to patients to remind them of appointments or make no-show calls is advantageous as well. Such calls have shown in studies to have a positive effect on provider-patient interactions and are likely to encourage patients to remain in care long-term (Finnegan 2016).

This study is a quality improvement project which will assess the effectiveness of patient retention efforts in the Ryan White Program of the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic in Atlanta. This project will analyze the effect of the implementation of pre-visit reminder phone calls over time on rates of missed visits for HIV patients. It will also explore the various reasons for missed visits through follow-up calls for those who missed appointments.

### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### What is HIV & What is The Ryan White Program?

#### HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) is a virus that targets the human immune system and its working components and cells, which fight off infection and sickness. Isolates of HIV can be categorized into two groups - HIV-type 1 (HIV-1) and HIV-type 2 (HIV-2). HIV-1 is most commonly found around the world, while HIV-2's prevalence is limited to parts of Western and Central Africa (Fanales-Belasio et al. 2010). Upon invasion of the CD4 cell, a type of white blood cell that makes up the immune system, the virus replicates and kills the cell while new copies find other CD4 cells to kill. This pattern of invasion and replication renders the immune system defenseless when CD4 cells are killed overtime (Fanales-Belasio et al. 2010; Chatterjee 2010). Moreover, HIV-1 has been cited as the responsible factor for the onset and development of Acquired Immuno-Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), the combination of both which had been, at a time, one of the leading causes of mortality among infectious diseases (Chatterjee 2010). While the viruses themselves aren't responsible for death, they weaken the immune system enough to render the human body completely vulnerable to other infections or conditions. Currently, no cure or vaccine exists for HIV elimination within the human body (Ng'uni, Chasara, and Ndhlovu 2020). However, effective treatments can prevent HIV from progressing to AIDS, which typically can happen around 10-15 years after initial infection without such treatment (Ng'uni, Chasara, and Ndhlovu 2020).

Since the 1980s, HIV has been one of the most challenging public health issues to tackle. Even well before the virus emerged, decades of globalization, urbanization and evolving patterns of sexual contact contributed to rising transmission rates of various diseases (Padamsee 2020). June of 1981 saw the first cases of HIV and AIDS in Los Angeles, California among several gay men who showed signs of infection ("Centers for Disease Control & Prevention: National Prevention Information Network," n.d.). Since then, an explosion of cases around the United States and the world, resulting in what became a full-scale pandemic. Urban gay communities all around the U.S. bore the brunt of the disease (Padamsee 2020). Additionally, such communities showed differences in HIV-related health outcomes when intersecting with race. In Atlanta, Georgia, the location of this thesis study, studies show that black individuals living with HIV are more likely than their white counterparts to suffer from barriers to accessing care and structural racism than their white counterparts (Sullivan et al. 2021). All in all, from 1981 to 1990, state, local and territorial health departments reported 100,777 deaths among persons with AIDS to the Centers for Disease Control (C.D.C.), according to a Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) from 1991 ("CDC Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report" 1991). Among these deaths was a boy from the Midwest.

#### The Ryan White Program

Originally from Kokomo, Indiana, Ryan White was a 13 year old boy who was diagnosed with AIDS following a blood transfusion. Having faced AIDS-related discrimination in school, White became the face of public education about the disease ("HRSA: Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program," n.d.). Although White was remarkably able to live 5 years longer than expected, he died in 1990 just before his high school graduation. Subsequently, a program was passed by the Congress of the United States called the Ryan White Comprehensive AIDS Resource Emergency (CARE) Act of 1990 ("HRSA: Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program," n.d.). This program aimed to deliver HIV care to underserved communities across the United States by operating as a "payer

of last resort" (Bradley et al. 2016). The program provides funds directly to HIV-care clinics, which research suggests generally perform better than other facilities which provide HIV medical care without the program (Bradley et al. 2016; Valverde et al. 2004; Weiser et al. 2015). In fact, the program boasts high levels of achieving viral suppression particularly among retained patients, according to a 2011 study analyzing the U.S. HIV safety net system (Bradley et al. 2016; Hirschhorn et al. 2009; Doshi et al. 2015). The study found that 82.2% of patients who had at least 1 medical visit in 2011 had been retained in care - meaning the patients had at least 2 HIV medical care visits at least 90 days apart - and 72.6% achieved viral suppression (Doshi et al. 2015). However, funding levels from Ryan White depend on discretionary grants based on annual appropriations from Congress, which have remained somewhat stagnant from 2015 to 2021, but increased slightly in 2022 ("HRSA: Ryan White Program Budget," n.d.). These funds are ultimately necessary to keep these rates of retention and viral suppression high.

The Ryan White program aims to fill the gap of HIV medical coverage by serving people living with HIV who otherwise cannot afford, or do not qualify for, other kinds of medical insurance, whether it be Medicare, Medicaid, or private health insurance (Ginossar et al. 2019). More broadly speaking, the program has **four** specific goals: 1) Reduce new HIV infections, 2) Open more access to care and improve outcomes for people living with HIV, 3) Reduce HIV-related health disparities and inequities, and 4) Contribute to a more coordinated national HIV-epidemic response ("HRSA: Ryan White Program National Strategies" 2020). In order to be eligible to receive services through the Ryan White Part A program via the Fulton County Eligible Metropolitan Area funds, a patient <u>must meet the following criteria</u>:

- Have documentation for a positive HIV diagnosis
- Proof of residency in one of 20 designated counties making up the Atlanta Metro region:

- Barrow, Bartow, Carroll, Cherokee, Clayton, Cobb, Coweta, DeKalb, Douglas, Fayette, Forsyth,
   Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry, Newton, Paulding, Pickens, Rockdale, Spalding and Walton
- Have an income of  $\leq 400\%$  of the most current Federal Poverty Level (FPL)

\*Source: ("Department for HIV Elimination: Fulton County," n.d.)

#### **Treatment Regimen and Continuum of Care for HIV**

#### Antiretroviral Therapy

As previously mentioned, HIV is a disease which has no immediate remedy or vaccine. Decades of research and study of HIV has not been able to yield an effective instant cure-all because of the complicated nature of the disease (Pace & Frater 2014). Specifically, HIV-1 has the ability to integrate itself into the genomic DNA of host cells within the immune system and establish a Latent Viral Reservoir (LVR), enabling its permanent presence in the human body (Poon et al. 2018).

While HIV may not be able to be cured, research has come a long way in the development of effective therapies that have turned the disease from a death sentence into a manageable illness. The most notable form of therapy is known as Antiretroviral Therapy (ART). This form of therapy is a combination of medicines that are prescribed by an HIV patient's doctor and are taken over a period of time to the point where a patient reaches what is known as "viral suppression" - the virus can no longer replicate and is undetectable in the human body, therefore unable to spread to other individuals (Lozano and Domingo 2011; Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration 2008). Mortality and morbidity are reduced greatly with ART intake due to the increase in CD4 cells - white blood cells that build the immune system - increasing (Mocroft et al. 2007). A study published in the Lancet medical journal found that even in communities with high levels of risky sexual behavior, the combination of ART usage is still effective (Velasco-Hernandez, Gershengorn, and Blower 2002). Among the gay community in

the San Francisco area, the value of R(0) (ART) - which signifies the average number of novel infections that a single HIV case produces during their lifetime when ART is available - stood at 0.90 (0.85-0.96) if risky sex decreased, 1.0 (0.94-1.05) if risky sex remained stable, and 1.16 (1.05-1.28) if risky sex increased. Additionally, the probability of epidemic eradication stood at a high level (p=0.85) in the decreased category, a moderate level (p=0.5) in the stable category, and a low level (p=0.13) in the increased category. Therefore, the researchers were able to conclude that intake of ART can still be effective and beneficial in preventing HIV transmission even among high levels of drug-resistance and risky sex (Velasco-Hernandez, Gershengorn and Blower 2002). Overall, the intake of ART has been shown to increase life-expectancy for people living with HIV. Another study published in the Lancet found that life-expectancy among 20 year old HIV patients increased starting ART increased by about 9 years in women and 10 years in men on average between the years 1996 and 2010, having analyzed data from 18 European and North-American HIV-1 cohorts (Trickey et al. 2017). Generally, once viral suppression is achieved, an HIV patient can live normal healthy lives even as much as their HIV-negative peers (Wandeler, Johnson, and Egger 2016).

#### The Continuum of Care

The usage of ART is only one part in what's known as the "continuum of care" - a five-step chain that HIV patients must follow to achieve the ultimate goal of viral suppression. The continuum starts with the **first** step of receiving a positive HIV diagnosis, which can only be achieved through testing. The **second** step involves linking the HIV-positive patient to appropriate medical care, which is often in the form of seeing a licensed medical physician. The **third** step involves receiving the appropriate medical care, often in the form of adhering to the treatment regimen. The **fourth** step involves being retained in care - ensuring that patients

continue to meet and consult their healthcare providers. The **fifth** and final step is achieving and maintaining viral suppression ("HIV Care Continuum" 2022). While each of these steps are critical in the chain of HIV care to achieving the ultimate goal of undetectability of the virus, one of the most challenging aspects involves retaining patients in medical care. An HIV surveillance supplemental report found that for all people reportedly living with HIV in the U.S. in 2019, the lowest category pertained to patients retained in care, standing at 50% ("CDC: HIV Surveillance Report" 2019). Improving these levels is a small but necessary step to limiting the spread of HIV, and the focus of the Ryan White program involves investing heavily in analyzing ways to keep patients retained in care.

#### **Barriers & Facilitators to Retention in HIV Care**

While much is known about retention for HIV patients overall, more research is likely needed to address <u>psychosocial barriers</u> to care. Whereas quantitative studies have been successful at describing demographic and clinical characteristics associated with retention of HIV patients, qualitative studies are needed to fill the gap of describing what specific barriers and facilitators patients face (Yehia et al. 2015).

#### What are the Barriers?

A barrier to care may be defined as "factors in a person's environment that, through their absence or presence, limit functioning and create disability" ("CDC: Disability Barriers," n.d.). A study published in the peer-reviewed journal BMC Infectious Diseases found, through semi-structured interviews that some of the most common barriers identified by HIV-infected individuals overall, a number of barriers which include (but are not limited to) competing life activities, feeling sick, stigma, depression and mental illness, forgetfulness and insufficient health insurance (Yehia et al. 2015). Other studies were able to probe further, and one study from 2017 found that retention of veterans living with HIV who received treatment from the Veterans Health Administration (VHA) depended heavily on their perceptions of the clinical experience (Wessinger et al. 2017). For example, participants who were not retained in care experienced barriers such as high clinic wait times, low confidence in clinicians and customer service concerns (Wessinger et al. 2017). Based on the criteria that must be met to receive services through the Ryan White program regarding income level and geographic location, one can assume that patients who meet such criteria face a host of additional barriers to staying linked to care. This thesis will expand on such barriers, which were found to include a lack of affordable or easily accessible transportation, homelessness, and lack of access to technology among others.

#### What are the Facilitators?

Indeed, patients who are successfully retained in HIV care have typically reported positive experiences associated with their clinical journey. Such experiences could include the inverse of many of the barriers described: having an easier time scheduling appointments, high quality customer service and positive perceptions of healthcare institutions (Wessinger et al. 2017). Additionally, socioeconomic factors such as higher levels of income, access to health insurance and social capital & support could all lead to a higher likelihood of being retained in care (Yehia et al. 2015). A case study examining barriers and facilitators from North Carolina found that patients with few financial problems are more likely to prioritize their care than those who have significant problems and must worry about other necessities, such as feeding families (Berger et al. 2016). Since the Ryan White program in Atlanta assists patients who struggle from such hardships by providing insurance and coverage for care, the primary facilitators to pay attention to are those at a systematic and institutional level. One such facilitator involves interacting with patients over the phone to keep them retained in care.

#### The Power of Phone Calls & The Value of Human Interaction

#### Human vs. Non-Human

Interactions between patients and healthcare providers can come in a multitude of different forms. For the purposes of this study, these types of interactions can be split into two categories: human and non-human. Some examples of non-human interactions between provider and patient, which lie in the realm of automation and technology, can include text-message reminders, emails or patient portal messages. On the other hand, human interactions will often take the form of face-to-face interactions or, more conveniently, phone calls with a human voice on both ends as opposed to a human voice on one end of the phone and a robotic voice on the other.

Just how effective are these kinds of approaches compared to one another? Most available research paints a bit of a mixed picture. Automated forms of interaction certainly can be valuable in how efficiently patients can be contacted and reminded of appointments, reducing the burden on hospital offices and providers to do so. However, human forms of interaction are quite effective at retaining patients overall because of the ability of a compassionate human voice to establish trust (Finnegan 2016). A meta-analysis study of mobile phone reminders on HIV patients' retention to care found a roughly equal effectiveness between reminders using text messages and phone calls (Jong, Cuca and Thompson 2017). However, this finding was mostly limited to resource-limited settings spanning several nations in Africa, mostly among women with young infants, and was inconclusive about the impact of short messaging service (SMS) on clinical attendance across settings (Jong, Cuca, and Thompson 2017). The study makes a reasonable assumption that mobile reminders, whether they be text or phone-based, will continue to be effective as long as mobile phone ownership increases across the globe. Another study utilizing a randomized control trial in the academic primary care division of the Geneva University Hospitals in Switzerland came to roughly the same conclusion of relatively equal effectiveness between text message reminders and phone call reminders (Junod Perron et al. 2013). While this study did reaffirm that text-messaging is less of a resource-demanding option that phone calls, the authors also noted another study which performed a prospective, randomized, parallel design clinical trial on patients of specialty outpatient practices (one of which included allergy/infectious disease) at the Robert Wood Johnson Medical School in New Jersey (Parikh et al. 2010). This study actually found that clinical phone reminders to patients was more effective than automated reminders, contrasting no-show rates of 13.6% and 17.3% respectively (Parikh et al. 2010). A clinical phone call also has the advantage of being able to communicate to and collect critical information from patients during reminders that automated information cannot, such as giving directions to the clinic, answering real-time questions, and perhaps collecting miscellaneous information of consequence.

A phone call can be a powerful tool in linking patients and providers and ensuring higher patient retention, but only if performed carefully. A study conducted by the Baird Group, a Wisconsin-based consulting group, found that 35% of callers may not return to a medical practice or appointment if they had a negative experience during the first call (Baird and Callahan 2016). The study recommended several strategies to create a good first impression:

- Introducing themselves in a friendly and reassuring manner
- Speaking slowly and clearly without interrupting the patient

• Scheduling appointments sooner than later (callers offered appointments more than 2 weeks out were 4.4 times less likely to stay within practice)

#### **Aspects of Patient Retention - Two Types of Calls**

As part of a quality improvement project, the Emory Infectious Diseases Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program initiated a pilot program including patient reminder calls regarding upcoming appointments and follow-up phone calls to assess/address barriers to care among people who missed clinic visits. Data in support of these approaches is provided in the sections below.

#### Pre-Visit Reminder Phone Calls

Before a patient is due for their appointment, a reminder call sometimes is made to remind the patient by specifying the time, date and location of their appointment. Much of the current literature has focused largely on examining how reminder calls affect patients' adherence to treatment as opposed to reducing no-show rates. One study conducted by researchers at Wake Forest University focused largely on how reminder calls and interventions positively affected medication adherence rates (West et al. 2012). Remarkably, it was found that patients had a higher average adherence rate when contacted by a traditional or automated phone call as opposed to a text message, with rates standing at 67.65% and 51.31% respectively. This finding reinforces conclusions from the previous study from New Jersey on the higher effectiveness of phone calls, though no distinction is made between human and automated calls (West et al. 2012; Parikh et al. 2009). The researchers acknowledged, however, that what exactly is being communicated through phone calls has a complex relationship with how likely a patient will adhere to treatment or come to their appointment. Pre-visit reminder calls are generally supposed to be simple and short, so as to not overly burden a patient with too much information. A

different randomized control trial, which focused on telemedicine HIV visits during the COVID-19 pandemic, found that simple standard reminders were adequate for patients reachable by phone and did not require a pre-visit intervention to assist with barriers to telemedicine (Hickey et al. 2023). This study, however, warned that additional interventions will be needed for patients experiencing homelessness or who have poorly-controlled HIV. Those additional interventions were not specified. Overall, the literature on pre-visit reminders shows that the overall effect of the practice is complicated and is based on a number of factors, from the content of the call to the needs and demographics of a specific patient. However, the literature also shows that simple pre-visit reminder calls make a meaningful difference for patients.

#### Follow-Up Calls for Missed Visits

The second type of call a provider's office or clinic can make to patients is a follow-up call. For the purpose of this study, follow-up calls are made to patients who miss their appointments, whether routinely or on a one-time basis. Follow-up calls can typically be made to inform patients of their missed appointments as well as to reschedule. The Ryan White Program's efforts for follow-up include asking patients why they missed their appointments for the purpose of addressing any potential barriers to care.

Research on the effect of follow-up calls for missed visits in reducing future no-show rates is currently very limited. Most literature focuses on varied aspects of follow-up such as potential to detect and mitigate unresolved problems or assessing clinical status (Houser et al. 2013; Zorc et al. 2003). One study, however, did highlight promising evidence of the effect of follow-up calls in increasing subsequent visits (Blank et al. 1996). The study focused on case managers' responses to failed appointments for 83 persons with mental health disorders in a rural community mental health center. The study found that patients who received follow-up calls or letters were much more likely to attend subsequent appointments in the future than patients who received no follow-up at all, though equal likelihood was reported between follow-up calls and letters. Clients who received no follow-up were noted as being more likely to receive emergency services rather than a regular appointment as their next contact with their clinic. This is a scenario which the Emory Ryan White Program hopes to avoid by boosting efforts to patient retention through these calls.

#### **Gaps in Literature**

#### What More Must Be Done?

Plenty of literature currently exists across a plethora of dimensions regarding the HIV epidemic, built off work conducted battling the disease at its height in the 1980s and 90s. However, research becomes more and more limited as specificity to patient retention for HIV patients in the Ryan White program goes on. Phone calls to patients have been highlighted as an effective way to retain patients in care overall, yet more must be studied to clearly understand how these human-based interactions work among Ryan White patients in Atlanta, who have many psychosocial barriers to care that must be addressed. There is a need to understand these strategies better so that patients can remain linked to care and achieve their ultimate goal of viral suppression, thereby reducing the burden of HIV among poorer individuals in the metro Atlanta region.

The goal of this thesis is to assess the process and effectiveness of patient retention efforts (i.e., (1) appointment reminder phone calls and (2) calls to assess and address challenges faced to attending their clinic visit) in the Emory Infectious Diseases Clinic Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program between July and October 2022 when data was collected. This research will fulfill a previous knowledge gap of analyzing the quality of human-based forms of patient interaction for Ryan White patients in reducing no-show rates, compared to the status quo of patient portal and automated reminders. The findings of this thesis could have implications for how these efforts can be similarly applied to Ryan White programs across the United States.

### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

#### **Overview of Methods**

The main methods used in this study will involve chart extractions before and after the intervention calls (i.e., appointment reminder calls and calls assessing/addressing challenges to attending clinic visits) to evaluate whether there were differences in patient attendance of HIV care visits. This method will aim to examine several principal tenets. The first tenet will pertain to the implementation of pre-visit reminder phone calls, seeking to investigate if the percentage of missed visits declined overtime for patients who see specific providers. The second tenet will pertain to the pre- and post-implementation of follow-up calls for missed visits, seeking to understand the overall reasons for missed visits and how those reasons may or may not change overtime.

#### **Basic Structure**

#### Setting

The study took place in the city of Atlanta, Georgia, in the United States. Data was collected in the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic of the Emory University Hospital Midtown, located in the heart of the city. The clinic is located on the 7th floor of the Medical Office Tower and is where services for the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program are delivered. The larger hospital serves residents of not only Atlanta, but also Georgia and the larger southeastern United States. This region has been characterized as a concentrated one in the HIV epidemic due to high levels of poverty, underinsured people, and MSM (men who have sex with men) populations as well as social drivers such as stigma, racism, and homophobia (Hixson et al. 2011). In fact, the Deep South - which was defined in a 2019 study from researchers at the National Institute of Health

(NIH) as the states of Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, Tennessee, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina and Florida - were higher than all other major regions of the United States despite a promising steady decline overtime (Watson et al. 2019). HIV diagnosis rates in the Deep South were 45% higher than other southern states - Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Kentucky, Maryland, Oklahoma, Virginia and West Virginia - which have a combined rate similar to that of the U.S. average of 17 per 100,000 persons (Watson et al. 2019). There's been no evidence to suggest that these trends have changed.

#### *Population & Timeframe*

The individuals who were the focus of this quality assessment were patients in the Ryan White program who were linked to care in the Infectious Disease clinic at Emory University Hospital Midtown. In order to qualify to receive services through the Ryan White program, patients had to meet specific criteria: namely that they lived in the 20 designated counties surrounding the metro Atlanta region and that they were designated at or below 400% of the federal poverty line (refer to criteria on pages 6-7). Moreover, this study was conducted at the hospital from early July to late October of 2022. Therefore, only patients who attended, or were scheduled to attend appointments during this timeframe were considered participants for this quality assessment.

#### Study Design

The study carried out is designed as a quasi-experimental quantitative study because the analysis was conducted to examine patient retention in care pre- and post-implementation of the phone calls. For 3-4 days of the week, phone calls were made to patients who either missed their appointment from the previous day/couple of days or had an upcoming appointment the following day.

#### Intervention

For the first set of patients, a list was compiled by the office Supervisor of Business Operations which detailed which patients had missed their appointments on a particular day. The list would show their medical record number (MRN), date of birth (DOB), what time their appointment was supposed to be, and with which healthcare provider. Patients who missed appointments with nurses in the clinic were not counted for this study. Patients who were marked as "deceased" in the electronic medical record (EMR) system were also not counted. All other patients were contacted via office telephone. Calls would first be attempted on a patient's cell phone number, followed up by a home phone number if the cell was unsuccessful, although messages would be left regardless. If a patient answered the phone, their birthdate would first be verified. This step was critical to determine the identity of the patient on the phone, since a discussion of HIV-related material is subject to harmful stigmatization if other individuals related to the patient were to find out their diagnosis. Once verified, the patient would be notified of their missed appointment and would be asked to provide reasoning as to why they missed their appointment.

For the second set, another list was compiled for patients who had appointments the next day with the clinic's Physician Assistant. A similar phone call procedure was made to remind patients of their appointment for the next day. If a patient answered the phone, their identity would be verified by confirmation of their birthdate. Once this step is completed, the patient would be reminded of their appointment and asked to confirm that they will be present. If a patient says they will be, the caller will make sure the patient knows the location of the hospital and clinic, as well as identifying any potential transportation issues that may arise before the conversation ends. If a patient says they can't make it to their appointment, they will be redirected to the call center for assistance in canceling or rescheduling their appointment. If a patient has foreseen transportation issues, they will be redirected to their social worker for assistance.

For both the first and second set of patients, specific scripts were drafted and adhered to as a way of guiding the caller through the initial interaction. Copies of these scripts for the first and second sets can be found in **Appendix A** and **Appendix B** respectively.

#### Data Collection

As phone calls were being made regarding both missed visits and appointment reminders, excel charts were made each day for compiling qualitative data for calls of each variety. The order of the columns were structured according to **Figures 1 and 2** below:

Figure 1: Column structure of excel charts for patients who missed their appointments

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Name of Patient	Medical Record Number (MRN)	Date of Birth	Phone Number	Date of no-show	Provider	Date of Attempted Contact	Comments

Figure 2: Column structure of excel charts for patients who were reminded of appointments

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Name of Patient	Medical Record Number (MRN)	Date of Birth	Phone Number	Date/Time of Appointment	Provider	Date of Attempted Contact	Comments

Under the "Comments" section, the caller would write down comments relevant to the content of the call. In the case of no-show calls, this content would largely include reasons why the patient missed their appointment. However, the content could also include (but is not limited to) patients who claim they rescheduled their appointments already, patients who are unsure of why they were being called, patients who had moved away, or patients who didn't answer the phone and

received a message from the caller. In the case of reminder calls, the content written down in the comments section was more simplistic. If patients confirmed their appointment, such would be written that they knew of their appointment and were due in the office. However, some patients who couldn't make their appointments would have their reasons for not confirming their attendance written down.

For patients in both types of calls who didn't answer the phone, the comments would specify if a voicemail was left. If one wasn't left, further specification would include whether the mailbox was full or if the number was no longer functional. This specification could assist the clinic in identifying better ways to contact certain patients in the future, which could include updating their contact information based on changing phone numbers.

Finally, data showing the number of missed visits, the number of arrived appointments and the number of canceled appointments between 2 and 24 hours before the appointment was provided by the Patient Access Operations Manager. This data highlights the no-show rate of the Physician Assistant's patients on a monthly basis from April to September of 2022 to give a look into how the rate changed before and during the intervention.

#### Analysis Methods & Use of Numerical Codes

#### Analysis Methods of Psychosocial Barriers to Care

In order to analyze the frequency of psychosocial barriers to care and how they fluctuate overtime, the most commonly identified barriers were coded numerically as a way to have their frequency added up in proportion to how many total calls were made for each month. **Figure 3** below displays the numerical code, with different numbers assigned to different reasons:

Figure 3: Numerical code for reasons of missing visits

- 1 = "Patient didn't know appointment was today, thought it was a different day" **2** = "Patient didn't know he/she had an appointment today at all"  $\mathbf{3}$  = "Patient tried to cancel/reschedule appointment but couldn't" **4** = "Patient showed up a bit late but they could not accommodate" **5** = "Patient has transportation issues" **6** = "Patient has shift in work schedule" 7 = "Patient was sick/having medical issues and could not make it" **8** = "Patient was out of town" **9** = "Patient knew of appointment but simply forgot" **10** = "Patient has busy hectic schedule" 11 = "Patient has moved out of state/service network" 12 = "Patient already canceled/rescheduled missed appointment/delay in system" **13** = "Patient had an accident" **14** = "Patient receives care from elsewhere" 15 = "Patient gives no coherent/good reason" **16** = "Patient did not answer phone" 17 = "Other reason"
- These numbers were assigned to these reasons for missing appointments as a way to assess what the frequency of each barrier to care was for each month of the intervention. The numbers would be tallied by how many times they appeared in a particular month, and that tally would be divided by the total number of calls made for that month to come up with frequency in the form of a percentage. In particular, the top three reasons for missing appointments were scrutinized and highlighted. The intervention lasted for a total of 4 months, starting in July and lasting till October of 2022. While it was included in the numerical code to be representative of reasons that were unlisted, reason #17 showed a relatively high frequency in this secondary analysis. Some reasons listed in the recorded comments from the charts that were encompassed under 17 included (but are not limited to), "....patient believed follow-up wasn't necessary...." or "....patient already spoke with provider..." or "....patient had family emergency...." Because these reasons were wide-ranging, it was deemed best to have them condensed into one reason for the numerical code listed as "unlisted reason "

#### Analysis Methods for Non-Answering Patients

Because the largest share of patients who missed appointments didn't answer the phone, a third analysis was conducted to further scrutinize the nature of unanswered calls. Specifically, this analysis divided the unanswered calls into the following groups: patients who didn't have a working number, those for whom a voicemail was left, and those who had a full or unestablished mailbox.

In order to calculate the frequency of these categories, a similar numerical code was used in the charts to tally how many times each category arose throughout the course of the intervention only when reason #16 showed up. This new numerical code is shown in **Figure 4** below:

Figure 4: Numerical code for categories of unanswered calls

101 = "Patient didn't have a working phone/call couldn't be completed as dialed"
102 = "Patient had a working number but a voicemail was left"
103 = "Patient had a working number but mailbox was full"

### **Chapter 4: Results & Analysis**

#### **Effect of Pre-Visit Reminder Phone Calls**

#### Results of Psychosocial Barriers to Care

The analysis of the most prevalent reasons for missing appointments showed some consistencies and some fluctuations over the course of the intervention. In the month of July, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 16 (46.15%, n = 117), 17 (10.26%, n = 117) and 12 (6.84%, n = 117). This means that out of 117 total calls made for that month, 46.15% of patients did not answer the phone, 10.26% of patients missed their appointments for another unlisted reason (i.e. family emergency, technology issues, etc.), and 6.84% of patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments ahead of the call. In the month of August, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 16 (57%, n = 114), 12 (9.6%, n = 114) and a tie between 7 and 17 (5.26%, n = 114). This means that out of 114 total calls made for that month, 57% of patients did not answer the phone, 9.6% of patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments ahead of the call, and 5.26% of patients either had medical issues or couldn't make it for an unlisted reason. In the month of September, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 16 (43.14%, n = 102), 17 (12.75%, n = 102) and 7 (11.76%, n = 102). This means that out of 102 total calls made for that month, 43.14% of patients did not answer the phone, 12.75% of patients missed for an unlisted reason, and 11.76% of patients were sick or had medical issues. It's important to note that while 102 calls were made for September, 2 of the calls listed more than one reason for a patient missing an appointment. Finally, in the month of October, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 16 (41.18%, n = 34), 12 (20.59%, n = 34) and 17 (14.71%, n = 34). This means that out of 34 total calls made for that month,

41.18% of patients did not answer the phone, 20.59% of patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments ahead of the call, and 14.71% of patients missed due to an unlisted reason. **Figure 5** below gives a breakdown of this analysis by percentage for each month:



Figure 5: Breakdown of Analysis #1 which considers unanswered calls

\*Note: Colored boxes to right of chart signify the numerical codes of reasons from Figure 5

As the data shows, reason #16 shows most consistently to be the most prevalent across all 4 months of the intervention. The majority of patients contacted did not answer the phone. This reason was followed by other reasons of high frequency, such as having already canceled or rescheduled appointments before the call, indicating that there might be a delay in the system since these patients are still counted as no-shows. Some of the least prevalent reasons include reasons like #11 (patients moved out of the state or service network) and #15 (patient gave no good or coherent reason).

Because reason #16 was consistently ranked the most prevalent reason, a <u>second analysis</u> was performed to further analyze the frequency of reasons in which patients who didn't answer the phone were not included. This was done to solely consider reasons for missing appointments that were actually provided to the clinic, since patients who didn't answer the phone were very unlikely to respond unless they contacted the call center to reschedule their missed appointments. This secondary analysis highlights a high frequency of additional reasons that have not yet been considered.

In the month of July for the secondary analysis which didn't include reason #16, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 17 (19%, n = 63), 12 (12.7%, n = 63) and 9 (11.11%, n = 63). This means that out of 63 total calls in which patients answered the phone for that month, 19% of patients missed for an unlisted reason, 12.7% of patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments ahead of the call, and 11.11% of patients knew of their appointment but simply forgot about it. In the month of August for the secondary analysis, the top three reasons which had the highest frequency were 12 (22.4%, n = 49), a tie between 7 and 17 (12.2%, n = 49) and 3 (8.2%, n = 49). This means that out of 49 total calls in which patients answered the phone for that month, 22.4% of patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments ahead of the call, 12.2% of patients either had medical issues or couldn't make it for an unlisted reason, and 8.2% of patients tried to cancel or reschedule their appointment ahead of time but couldn't (possibly due to long wait times at the call center or some other reason). In the month of September for the secondary analysis, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 17 (22.41%, n = 58), 7 (20.7%, n = 58) and 5 (19%, n = 58). This means that out of 58 total calls in which patients answered the phone, 22.41% of patients missed their appointment due to an unlisted reason, 20.7% of patients were sick or had medical issues, and 5% of patients had issues related to transportation. Finally, in the month of October for the secondary analysis, the top three reasons with the highest frequency were 12 (35%, n = 20), 17 (25%, n = 20) and 1 (10%, n = 20). This means that out of 20 total calls in which patients answered the phone, 35% of patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments ahead of the call, 25% of patients missed their appointments due to an unlisted reason, and 10% of patients thought their appointment was scheduled for a different day instead of the actual day. **Figure 6** gives a breakdown of the results of this secondary analysis by percentage for each month:



Figure 6: Breakdown of Analysis #2 which does not consider unanswered calls

\*Note: Colored boxes to right of chart signify the numerical codes of reasons from Figure 6

The data here shows that reasons #12 and #17 largely dominate the field in higher frequency. However, this chart shows more clearly the importance of other barriers to care such as a lack of
transportation or medical issues, which make it more difficult for patients to attend their appointments.

#### *Results for Non-Answering Patients*

For the month of July, it was found that patients who had a working number but had a voicemail left made up the largest fraction of unanswered calls (62.97%, n = 54) and total calls overall (29.1%, n = 117). The category of patients who had a working number but a full mailbox made up the next highest percentage of both total missed calls (20.36%, n = 54) and total calls overall (9.35%, n = 117). The category of patients who didn't have a working phone or the call couldn't go through made up the lowest frequency of the three categories for both total missed calls (16.67%, n = 54) and total calls overall (7.7%, n = 117). For the month of August, it was found that patients who had a working number but had a voicemail left for them made up the highest frequency of both total missed calls (70.8%, n = 65) and total calls overall (40.4%, n =114). The category of patients who had a working number but a full mailbox made up the next highest frequency of both total missed calls (15.4%, n = 65) and total calls overall (8.7%, n =114). The category of patients who didn't have a working phone or the call couldn't go through made up the lowest frequency of the three categories for both total missed calls (13.8%, n = 65) and total calls overall (7.9%, n = 114). For the month of September, it was found that patients who had a working number but had a voicemail left for them made up the highest frequency of both total missed calls (65.9%, n = 44) and total calls overall (28.44%, n = 102). The category of patients who had a working number but a full mailbox made up the next highest frequency of both total missed calls (22.7%, n = 44) and total calls overall (9.8%, n = 102). The category of patients who didn't have a working phone or the call couldn't go through made up the lowest frequency of the three categories for both total missed calls (11.36%, n = 44) and total calls

overall (4.9%, n = 102). Finally, for the month of October, it was found that patients who had a working number but had a voicemail left for them made up the highest frequency of both total missed calls (64.28%, n = 14) and total calls overall (26.47%, n = 34). The category of patients who had a working number but a full mailbox made up the next highest frequency of both total missed calls (28.57%, n = 14) and total calls overall (11.77%, n = 34). The category of patients who didn't have a working phone or the call couldn't go through made up the lowest frequency of the three categories for both total missed calls (7.14%, n = 14) and total calls overall (2.94%, n = 34). Figure 7 below visualizes these trends across the duration of the intervention, which remarkable stay fairly consistent:

Figure 7: Breakdown of Analysis #3 which solely examines unanswered calls



Prevalence of Categories of Unanswered Calls

**Breakdown By Percentage** 

\*Note: Colored boxes on top of chart signify the numerical codes of reasons from Figure 7

This data clearly shows category #102 consistently maintaining the highest frequency throughout the duration of the intervention, followed by category #103 and then category #101. The majority of patients who did not answer the phone were left a voicemail by the office, whereas the lowest proportion of patients who did not answer the phone did not have a working number to reach or the call couldn't be completed as dialed.

### **Effect of Intervention on Appointment Attendance Rates**

#### Rate of No-Shows

Data provided by the Patient Access Operations Manager shows the no-show rate from April to September 2022 for the Physician Assistant's patients. It's important to note that the number of no-shows are defined as the number of times patients didn't show up to appointments, as opposed to the number of patients total who missed appointments. This means that a patient could have missed an appointment multiple times in a single month. In April, there were 27 no-shows. In May, there were 44 no-shows. In June, there were 41 no-shows. In July (when the intervention started), there were 37 no-shows. In August, there were 47 no-shows. In September, there were 57 no-shows.

#### Rate of Arrived Appointments

Data provided by the Patient Access Operations Manager also shows the rate of "arrived appointments" - defined as the number of appointments which patients attended on-time - from April to September 2022 for the Physician Assistant's patients. In April, there were 120 arrived appointments. In May, there were 134 arrived appointments. In June, there were 132 arrived appointments. In July, there were 143 arrived appointments. In August, there were 186 arrived appointments. In September, there were 159 arrived appointments. Like the no-show rate, a patient could have attended multiple appointments in a single month.

#### Rate of Appointments Canceled Between 2 and 24 Hours Beforehand

Data provided by the Patient Access Operations Manager finally shows the rate of appointments which were canceled between 2 and 24 hours before the appointment was scheduled to take place for the Physician Assistant's patients. In April, there were 11 canceled appointments. In May, there were 13 canceled appointments. In June, there were 10 canceled appointments. In July, there were 9 canceled appointments. In August, there were 22 canceled appointments. In September, there were 13 canceled appointments.

Overall, **Figure 8** shows the trends of the no-show, arrived appointment, and canceled appointment rates below for the Physician Assistant's patients:

Figure 8: Rates of Appointment Attendance and No-Show's

#### **Appointment Attendance Rates Before and During Intervention**



Trends Shown Overtime

# **Chapter 5: Discussion & Public Health Implications**

## Discussion

#### Summary of the Results

HIV as a disease has progressed a long way from being a death sentence to becoming a disease with which people can still live long, healthy lives. People living with HIV face a whole host of barriers to care that could prevent them from adhering to their treatment regimen, not just in Atlanta but across the nation and around the world. Such barriers to care are seen more frequently among individuals of lower socioeconomic status, including those who are homeless or have no medical insurance to afford care (Dasgupta et al. 2021). Ensuring that these patients are retained in care is critical to achieving viral suppression, and thus highlights the importance of identifying strategies, traditional or otherwise, to retain patients in care.

The results of this study show several interesting trends overtime. One notable trend is that a high percentage of patients contacted during each month did not answer the phone, which is concerning considering that the purpose of phone contact is to engage with patients in a conventional, clear and human way. Patients understandably have busy lives and may not be able to attend to phone calls depending on the time of day, particularly if they work, were in a private place, didn't recognize the number or simply didn't want to be bothered by the clinic. However, ensuring that patients are at least able to be contacted via phone, as well as receive voicemails, is vital to reminding patients of appointments, missed or otherwise, and identifying any obstacles to care that they may face. When looking at the secondary analysis to further investigate these obstacles, the data reveals several other reasons for missing appointments that commonly appear throughout the months. Some of these reasons appear very sparsely throughout the intervention, such as having family emergencies or believing, on the patient's own accord, that a follow-up appointment wasn't necessary for them. Due to their scattered pattern in the data, these reasons were marked as "unlisted" and clustered under reason #17. Another highly prevalent reason was that patients had already canceled or rescheduled their appointments before the call was made, which may indicate a delay in communication between the call center and the clinic since these patients were still counted as no-shows regardless. Identifying these disconnects or delays are important, since patients who have already done the work of being rescheduled might not want multiple calls from the clinic that are redundant in nature. Finally, patients being sick or having medical issues that make appointment attendance difficult was noted by the data as recurring throughout the months. All other reasons listed showed relatively modest prevalence, though they were still considered important to the clinic.

The data regarding the no-show and appointment arrival rates did show some shifts in trends overtime, particularly as it pertained to appointment attendance which peaked in August before declining a bit in September. Overall, the rate of arrived appointments appeared to climb from April to August, which initially might suggest that the intervention succeeded. However, the slight decline in the rate in September might suggest otherwise, in addition to the fact that the no-show rate actually climbed as the summer months turned to fall. There aren't any clear explanations as to why this might be, though the trends suggest that the pool of patients overall increased during the intervention, which would explain the higher rate of both appointment attendances and no-shows. The number of canceled appointments between 2 and 24 hours, meanwhile, stayed relatively stagnant. However, a peak in August similar to that of the arrived appointment rate was followed by a slight decline in September. Coinciding with a slight increase in the no-show rate in this same period, this trend is also confirmed by a decrease in

frequency of reason #12 - that the patient already canceled/rescheduled appointment ahead of call - from August to September (refer to Figure 6 to note the difference).

#### *Results in Context of the Literature*

The results found in this study have expanded upon barriers that were highlighted in previous studies. A peer-reviewed journal BMC Infectious Diseases highlighted through semi-structured interviews a number of barriers that HIV patients faced, which included (but are not limited to) competing life activities, sickness, stigma, mental illness, forgetfulness and a lack of health insurance (Yehia et al. 2015). The data from this quasi-experimental quantitative study was able to further shine a brighter light on the prevalence of some of these barriers, such as sickness and forgetfulness (reasons #7 and #9 respectively) while also expanding on other barriers including a lack of adequate transportation or having shifts in work schedules that were not previously considered. While many of these barriers are well-cited in literature, the clinic understood that some patients may not have been comfortable sharing certain barriers with someone they didn't know over the phone. The data was not able to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of phone calls vs. text-message reminders. However, several employees of the clinic have noted anecdotally that the phone-based interventions have had a substantial impact in reducing the no-show rate at the clinic as opposed to the more electronic methods of patient contact such as text-messages or portal emails, which have the disadvantage of not being able to identify barriers to patients' care. In reducing the no-show rate, the study employed several strategies for phone-based interventions that were in fact recommended by the study conducted by the Baird Group to keep experiences positive for patients over the phone, including speaking in a friendly and professional manner, speaking clearly and slowly without interruption and scheduling appointments sooner than later through the call center (Baird and Callahan 2016).

Finally, the results expanded on the gap in literature of the effect of follow-up calls on reducing the rate of no-shows in the clinic. Research on this topic is currently very limited, since most available literature pays attention to different aspects of follow-up such as potential to detect and mitigate unresolved problems or assessing clinical status (Houser et al. 2014; Zorc et al. 2003). The data had focused on the fluctuating no-show and appointment attendance rates to see how they might have been affected by the intervention, though future studies will need a longer timeframe to truly assess the impact.

#### Implications for the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic

The research conducted in the clinic has certain implications for the Ryan White Program and how patients are connected to, and retained in, care. It's certainly alarming that a significant number of patients do not answer the clinic's calls, even if some of them do manage to respond eventually. This could potentially highlight the importance of patients having alternate systems of contact available, such as email addresses or alternate phone numbers. For patients who are left voicemails, the clinic must be particularly careful in delivering appropriate messages. For example, the clinic should refrain from directly reminding the patient of their missed appointment, since the clinic cannot verify that the patient will be the one listening to the voicemail and not a family member or friend who might accidentally discover the patient's HIV diagnosis. This is why the clinic only leaves a callback number, in addition to mentioning the name of the clinic calling as the Emory Clinic in Midtown.

In voicemails, two callback numbers are left. One number is for the senior Patient Support Specialist in the clinic, who would relay the reasons a patient missed their appointment to the researcher should that patient call back. The other number left is the patient's assigned social worker, who is able to provide assistance to patients regarding their barriers to care such as cards for Kroger, Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA), or housing assistance. Some patients do call back, however, many of them don't. For the ones who don't call back, this can be a sign of some other underlying problem or issue with the patient. If the patient is listed on the patient portal, the clinic can follow-up later with a written communication via the portal reminding them to reschedule their missed appointment. There is no guarantee, however, that the patient will do so or even read the message. For patients who have a full mailbox or one that has not been set up yet, this could still indicate a working number that simply doesn't receive messages. Perhaps the patient could be made aware of this so as to set up or clear out the mailbox so that the clinic can leave messages if need be. For patients who don't have working numbers, it would be worthwhile to collect a valid working number for that patient during their next appointment. The clinic can still leave a written communication only if the patient is on the portal. If they are not, there isn't much that can be done to reach the patient.

Due to the high frequency of patients who had also rescheduled or canceled appointments ahead of being contacted, it is further recommended that the clinic adopts an enhanced line of connection with the call center so that these patients can avoid being placed on the no-show list (though this may or may not have happened in October during Emory's transition to EPIC for EMR documentation). Overall, many patients contacted didn't know who their social worker was when asked over the phone and/or did not have their social worker's contact information. A necessary step toward attaining services to combat barriers to care is linking patients to their social workers, should they require assistance. This step was a key component of this work and should be continued under the role of the Patient Retention Specialist.

Reducing the no-show rate was a goal of the researcher's work, particularly in justifying the need for the clinic to adopt a permanent Patient Retention Specialist position. While the data obtained on the no-show rate is unfortunately limited in its scope, the overall perceptions amongst staff at the clinic were that fewer no-shows were being reported each month.

#### *Limitations of Study*

Like other studies on this topic, the work of this study bore its own shortcomings. For example, while the data gives a decent picture of the reasons as to why people miss their appointments, it is clear there are several limitations that might blur its accuracy. One limitation comes from the fact that many patients simply do not answer the phone, and those who we leave messages for are asked to call back the Patient Support Specialist. At times, reasons for missing appointments might be lost between the Patient Support Specialist and the researcher due to a high volume of calls to be made and a high workload done in the clinic overall. Additionally, not every patient spoken to is someone coming to the clinic for HIV care (although the majority of patients coming to see the Physician Assistant are). Many patients are not necessarily coming to the clinic for HIV treatment. The researcher's lack of access to the electronic medical record unfortunately means that the researcher cannot distinguish who is a patient coming for HIV care versus for other reasons. This might affect the data since the focus was on Ryan White patients specifically. A lack of access to certain electronic medical record systems for the researcher was also reflected in the month of October, when the Emory Clinic made the transition to EPIC's new EMR system. This switch hindered the number of calls that could be made in October by the researcher, as is demonstrated in the fact that only 34 total calls were made that month as compared to 117, 114 and 102 for July, August and September respectively. Moreover, another limitation of this study is a lack of longitudinal follow-up; data from the last month of the intervention and a few months following the intervention's completion was not able to be obtained. The researcher had aimed to obtain data all the way through January 2023 to see how

37

the rates fluctuate before, during and after the intervention, which would have helped assess whether the effects on appointment attendance extinguished with discontinuance of the reminder calls. However, the data provided only covered before and during most of the intervention from April to September of 2022. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the clinic acknowledges that not all patients are forthcoming in their responses to our calls. Some patients have given reasons that don't add up when corroborated with social workers or peer navigators who have worked with these patients in the past. This is somewhat understandable, given that patients may not feel comfortable talking to a perceived stranger on the phone. Thus in the future, the clinic could consider ensuring the phone calls were made by an staff member with establish rapport with the patients

#### Conclusion of Discussion

The data collected over the course of four months at the Emory Infectious Disease Clinic in Midtown Atlanta gives a somewhat clearer picture of the kinds of barriers that patients face to being retained in care, but also more importantly shows how many patients are unreachable by phone. With some literature suggesting that patient retention is improved through more traditional methods of phone-calling instead of text-messaging, there are several recommendations for the clinic that could strengthen reachability to patients by phone (Nedell et al. 2023).

## **Implications for Public Health**

#### Implications for Future Research

Despite the pool of research that has already been conducted on the intersection of HIV care and patient retention, and how this study has expanded the pool, more research needs to be conducted to further determine the likelihood of patients being rescheduled for future follow-up

appointments and the likelihood of follow-up for subsequent visits in the future as a result of the interventions conducted in this thesis study. This was difficult to analyze in this study due to limitations of time. While anecdotally the phone-based intervention has been said by clinic staff to have worked in reducing the no-show rate, more studies like these are needed over longer periods of time to determine if this is in fact true. Additionally, future research needs to focus on the efficacies of different patient retention strategies, such as phone calls, text-messages, emails or other automated reminders and how these strategies all compare to one another.

#### Implications for Future Practice

While acknowledging that not every patient may ultimately be reached or retained in care, the findings of this study and the overall trends demonstrated show the importance of having a patient retention specialist with established patient rapport who can employ a variety of methods to keep patients engaged. These methods can include phone-calling to patients to remind them of appointments and further identify barriers to care for patients who repeatedly miss appointments, as well as text-messaging and writing electronic communications (such as emails) or sending written letters to patients who might not otherwise have a working number. A study from a Ryan White clinic in South Carolina found that having an outreach coordinator performing similar duties to a patient retention specialist "may be an effective intervention to re-engage patients in care." Of the 51% of patients among the out-of-care population who were lost to care, around 44% of these patients were reengaged in care (Bean et al. 2017).

Social workers at the Emory clinic often have to deal with the needs of hundreds of patients, which means that the added task of keeping track of their appointment attendance may be too much to handle. Having a patient retention specialist working alongside social workers to

make sure patients don't fall through the gaps will be beneficial to reducing the no-show rate at the clinic and keeping patients on the path toward achieving viral suppression.

#### Implications for Future Policy

Ultimately, the success of the Ryan White program at Emory or elsewhere boils down to funding from the federal government. Such funding is critical to expanding patient retention efforts for HIV patients who live in poverty so that they can live healthier, more dignified lives. The good news is that the funding levels for Ryan White's budget have been increasing modestly each year by around 5%, an indication the policy on this issue is headed in the right direction ("HRSA: Ryan White Program Budget," n.d.). An increase in Ryan White's budget means that more clinics such as Emory's can hire patient retention specialists to identify barriers to care, which will ensure that resources of the clinic are allocated toward addressing patients' needs in a more efficient manner. Retaining more patients in care will mean reducing the spread of HIV across the South and beyond. Thus, if future effectiveness studies support use of a patient retention specialist to make reminder and follow-up calls, Ryan White policy could be amended to make this a requirement (or at least strong recommendation) of each Ryan White funded clinic.

## **Chapter 6: Conclusion**

HIV is undoubtedly one of the most complicated public health issues faced by the world today, with no immediate cure or vaccine available. However, the virus no longer has the same capability of mass mortality as it once did in the 1980s and 90s. Today, many individuals who contract HIV can still live dignified lives so long as they have access to testing, care and treatment.

Unfortunately, many people living with HIV in the world today have access to only some or none of these things. People who live in poverty or live paycheck-to-paycheck sometimes can't afford insurance to cover their care or the time dedicated to adhere to their treatment regimens to achieve viral suppression. Given how stigmatized HIV still is, particularly in areas such as the Southeastern United States with a high prevalence of HIV, people face a whole host of barriers to care such as homelessness, lack of transportation, lack of insurance, poor access to technology or food insecurity, among others. Patients in the Ryan White program, which delivers HIV care to people living 400% or below the Federal Poverty Line, are particularly prone to facing such barriers. Finding intuitive ways to keep them retained in care is critical to slowing the spread of HIV and helping these patients live long, healthy lives.

The aim of this thesis is to identify the most frequent barriers to care that patients face and analyze the effect of a phone-based intervention on the rate of attendance of HIV patients at the Emory Infectious Disease clinic in Midtown. Through chart extractions and analysis based on numerical coding, the data concluded that many patients did not answer the phone and that a majority of these patients were left with voicemails. A secondary analysis concluded that many patients had canceled or rescheduled their missed appointments ahead of time, or that they had medical issues and could not make their appointment. Other barriers such as a lack of transportation access were also highlighted as significant. While staff of the Emory clinic had observed the no-show rate of patients drop during the course of the intervention, the data could not effectively conclude whether or not the intervention was ultimately successful due to several unexpected variations in trends and a time frame deemed too short. Ultimately, more research will be needed on this topic to assess the value of phone-based interventions, especially as they compare to more automated forms of patient retention such as text-messaging or portal reminders.

Finally, this thesis makes a strong case for the necessity of a Patient Retention Specialist position in the clinic to handle all forms of patient retention, including linking patients more effectively to their social workers and further addressing their needs. Having such a specialist operate in every clinic will help ensure that appointment slots for healthcare providers are filled, and that fewer appointment slots are wasted due to patients not showing up.

## **References**

Agarwal-Jans, Sheba. 2020. "Timeline: HIV." Cell 183 (2): 550.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.09.004.

- Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort "Life Expectancy of Individuals on Combination Antiretroviral Therapy in High-Income Countries: A Collaborative Analysis of 14 Cohort Studies."
  2008. *The Lancet* 372 (9635): 293–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61113-7.
- Baird, Kristin, and Elizabeth Callahan. 2016. "The Power of the First Phone Call." The Baird Group.
- Bean, Madelyne C., Linda Scott, J. Michael Kilby, and Lauren E. Richey. 2017. "Use of an Outreach Coordinator to Reengage and Retain Patients with HIV in Care." *AIDS Patient Care and STDs* 31 (5): 222–26. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2016.0318.
- Berger, Miriam B., Kristen A. Sullivan, Heather E. Parnell, Jennifer Keller, Alice Pollard, Mary E. Cox, Jacquelyn M. Clymore, and Evelyn Byrd Quinlivan. 2016. "Barriers and Facilitators to Retaining and Reengaging HIV Clients in Care: A Case Study of North Carolina." *Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care (JIAPAC)* 15 (6): 486–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325957415616491.
- Blank, Michael B., Matthew Y. Chang, Jeanne C. Fox, Carol Ann Lawson, and Jules Modlinski.
  1996. "Case Manager Follow-up to Failed Appointments and Subsequent Service Utilization." *Community Mental Health Journal* 32 (1): 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02249364.
- Bradley, Heather, Abigail H. Viall, Pascale M. Wortley, Antigone Dempsey, Heather Hauck, and Jacek Skarbinski. 2016. "Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program Assistance and HIV Treatment

Outcomes." Clinical Infectious Diseases 62 (1): 90–98.

https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ708.

"CDC: Disability Barriers." n.d.

https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/disabilityandhealth/disability-barriers.html.

"CDC: HIV Surveillance Report 2019." 2019.

https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance/vol-26-no-2/index.html.

- "CDC Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report." 1991. MMWR. Current Trends Mortality Attributable to HIV Infection/AIDS -- United States, 1981-1990. Centers for Disease Control & Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/00001880.htm.
- "Centers for Disease Control & Prevention: National Prevention Information Network." n.d. Npin.cdc.gov. HIV and Aids Timeline. https://npin.cdc.gov/pages/hiv-and-aids-timeline.
- Chatterjee, Koushik. 2010. "Host Genetic Factors in Susceptibility to HIV-1 Infection and Progression to AIDS." *Journal of Genetics* 89 (1): 109–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-010-0003-4.
- Dasgupta, Sharoda, Yunfeng Tie, Linda Beer, Jennifer Fagan, and John Weiser. 2021. "Barriers to HIV Care by Viral Suppression Status Among US Adults With HIV: Findings From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Medical Monitoring Project." *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care* 32 (5): 561–68. https://doi.org/10.1097/JNC.0000000000249.
- De Cock, Kevin M., Harold W. Jaffe, and James W. Curran. 2012. "The Evolving Epidemiology of HIV/AIDS." *AIDS* 26 (10): 1205–13. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e328354622a.

- "Department for HIV Elimination: Fulton County." n.d. Enrolling in the Ryan White Program. https://www.ryanwhiteatl.org/am-i-eligible/.
- Doshi, R. K., J. Milberg, D. Isenberg, T. Matthews, F. Malitz, M. Matosky, S. Trent-Adams, D. Parham Hopson, and L. W. Cheever. 2015. "High Rates of Retention and Viral Suppression in the US HIV Safety Net System: HIV Care Continuum in the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program, 2011." *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 60 (1): 117–25. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciu722.
- Fanales-Belasio, Emanuele, Mariangela Raimondo, Barbara Suligoi, and Stefano Buttò. 2010.
  "HIV Virology and Pathogenetic Mechanisms of Infection: A Brief Overview." *Annali Dell'Istituto Superiore Di Sanita* 46 (1): 5–14. https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN\_10\_01\_02.
- Finnegan, Joanne. 2016. "Fierce Healthcare." *Patient Retention: Initial Phone Calls Can Make the Difference*.

https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/practices/patient-retention-initial-phone-calls-can-mak e-difference.

- Ginossar, Tamar, John Oetzel, Lindsay Van Meter, Andrew A. Gans, and Joel E. Gallant. 2019.
  "The Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program after the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Full Implementation: A Critical Review of Predictions, Evidence, and Future Directions." *Topics in Antiviral Medicine* 27 (3): 91–100.
- Hickey, Matthew D, Francesco Sergi, Kevin Zhang, Matthew A Spinelli, Douglas Black, Cyril
  Sola, Vanessa Blaz, et al. 2023. "Pragmatic Randomized Trial of a Pre-Visit Intervention
  to Improve the Quality of Telemedicine Visits for Vulnerable Patients Living with HIV." *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare* 29 (3): 187–95.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X20976036.

- Hirschhorn, Lisa R., Stewart Landers, D. Keith Mcinnes, Faye Malitz, Lin Ding, Rebecca Joyce, and Paul D. Cleary. 2009. "Reported Care Quality in Federal Ryan White HIV/AIDS
  Program Supported Networks of HIV/AIDS Care." *AIDS Care* 21 (6): 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120802511992.
- "HIV Care Continuum." 2022. *What Is the HIV Care Continuum?* (blog). October 28, 2022. https://www.hiv.gov/federal-response/policies-issues/hiv-aids-care-continuum/.
- "HIV Treatment Overview." 2022. What Is HIV Treatment? (blog). June 7, 2022. https://www.hiv.gov/hiv-basics/staying-in-hiv-care/hiv-treatment/hiv-treatment-overview/
- Hixson, Brooke A., Saad B. Omer, Carlos del Rio, and Paula M. Frew. 2011. "Spatial Clustering of HIV Prevalence in Atlanta, Georgia and Population Characteristics Associated with Case Concentrations." *Journal of Urban Health* 88 (1): 129–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-010-9510-0.
- Houser, Shannon H., Midge N. Ray, Richard Maisiak, Anantachai Panjamapirom, James Willing,
  Gordon D. Schiff, Thomas English, Christa Nevin, and Eta S. Berner. 2013. "Telephone
  Follow-up in Primary Care: Can Interactive Voice Response Calls Work?" *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 192: 112–16.
- "HRSA: Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program." n.d. Who Was Ryan White? https://ryanwhite.hrsa.gov/about/ryan-white.

.

- "HRSA: Ryan White Program Budget." n.d. Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program Funding. https://ryanwhite.hrsa.gov/about/budget.
- "HRSA: Ryan White Program National Strategies." 2020. National HIV/AIDS Strategy: Updated to 2020. 2020. https://ryanwhite.hrsa.gov/about/national-strategies.

- Jong, SoSon, Yvette Cuca, and Lisa M. Thompson. 2017. "Meta-Analysis of Mobile Phone Reminders on HIV Patients' Retention to Care." *Journal of Mobile Technology in Medicine* 6 (1): 5–18. https://doi.org/10.7309/jmtm.6.1.2.
- Junod Perron, Noelle, Melissa Dominicé Dao, Nadia Camparini Righini, Jean-Paul Humair, Barbara Broers, Françoise Narring, Dagmar M Haller, and Jean-Michel Gaspoz. 2013.
  "Text-Messaging versus Telephone Reminders to Reduce Missed Appointments in an Academic Primary Care Clinic: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *BMC Health Services Research* 13 (1): 125. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-125.
- Lozano, Fernando, and Pere Domingo. 2011. "Tratamiento antirretroviral de la infección por el VIH." *Enfermedades Infecciosas y Microbiología Clínica* 29 (6): 455–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eimc.2011.02.009.
- Mocroft, A, An Phillips, J Gatell, B Ledergerber, M Fisher, N Clumeck, M Losso, A Lazzarin, G Fatkenheuer, and Jd Lundgren. 2007. "Normalisation of CD4 Counts in Patients with HIV-1 Infection and Maximum Virological Suppression Who Are Taking Combination Antiretroviral Therapy: An Observational Cohort Study." *The Lancet* 370 (9585): 407–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60948-9.
- Nedell, Emma R., Michelle R. Fletcher, Marxavian D. Jones, Amulya Marellapudi, Cassie
  Grimsley Ackerley, Sophia A. Hussen, and Ameeta S. Kalokhe. 2023. "Reaching and
  Re-Engaging People Living with HIV Who Are Out of Care: A Mixed-Methods
  Exploration of Patient Preferences for Strategies to Enhance Clinic Communication and
  Outreach." *AIDS Patient Care and STDs* 37 (2): 95–102.
  https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2022.0193.

- Ng'uni, Tiza, Caroline Chasara, and Zaza M. Ndhlovu. 2020. "Major Scientific Hurdles in HIV Vaccine Development: Historical Perspective and Future Directions." *Frontiers in Immunology* 11 (October): 590780. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.590780.
- Pace, Matthew, and John Frater. 2014. "A Cure for HIV: Is It in Sight?" *Expert Review of Anti-Infective Therapy* 12 (7): 783–91. https://doi.org/10.1586/14787210.2014.910112.
- Padamsee, Tasleem J. 2020. "Fighting an Epidemic in Political Context: Thirty-Five Years of HIV/AIDS Policy Making in the United States." *Social History of Medicine* 33 (3): 1001–28. https://doi.org/10.1093/shm/hky108.
- Parikh, Amay, Kunal Gupta, Alan C. Wilson, Karrie Fields, Nora M. Cosgrove, and John B. Kostis. 2010. "The Effectiveness of Outpatient Appointment Reminder Systems in Reducing No-Show Rates." *The American Journal of Medicine* 123 (6): 542–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.11.022.
- Poon, Art F. Y., Jessica L. Prodger, Briana A. Lynch, Jun Lai, Steven J. Reynolds, Jingo Kasule, Adam A. Capoferri, et al. 2018. "Quantitation of the Latent HIV-1 Reservoir from the Sequence Diversity in Viral Outgrowth Assays." *Retrovirology* 15 (1): 47. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12977-018-0426-1.
- Prabhu, Sandeep, Allison M McFall, Shruti H Mehta, Aylur K Srikrishnan, Muniratnam Suresh Kumar, Santhanam Anand, Saravanan Shanmugam, David D Celentano, Gregory M Lucas, and Sunil S Solomon. 2020. "Psychosocial Barriers to Viral Suppression in a Community-Based Sample of Human Immunodeficiency Virus–Infected Men Who Have Sex With Men and People Who Inject Drugs in India." *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 70 (2): 304–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz175.

- Sullivan, Patrick Sean, Jennifer Taussig, Mariah Valentine-Graves, Nicole Luisi, Carlos Del Rio,
  Jodie L Guest, Jeb Jones, et al. 2021. "Disparities in Care Outcomes in Atlanta Between
  Black and White Men Who Have Sex With Men Living With HIV: Protocol for a
  Prospective Cohort Study (Engage[Men]t)." *JMIR Research Protocols* 10 (2): e21985.
  https://doi.org/10.2196/21985.
- Trickey, Adam, Margaret T May, Jorg-Janne Vehreschild, Niels Obel, M John Gill, Heidi M
  Crane, Christoph Boesecke, et al. 2017. "Survival of HIV-Positive Patients Starting
  Antiretroviral Therapy between 1996 and 2013: A Collaborative Analysis of Cohort
  Studies." *The Lancet HIV* 4 (8): e349–56.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(17)30066-8.

Valverde, E., C. Del Rio, L. Metsch, P. Anderson-mahoney, C. S. Krawczyk, L. Gooden, L. I. Gardner, and For the Antiretroviral Treatment and Access Studies Study Gr. 2004.
"Characteristics of Ryan White and Non-Ryan White Funded HIV Medical Care Facilities across Four Metropolitan Areas: Results from the Antiretroviral Treatment and Access Studies Site Survey." *AIDS Care* 16 (7): 841–50.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09546120412331290130.

- Velasco-Hernandez, Jx, Hb Gershengorn, and Sm Blower. 2002. "Could Widespread Use of Combination Antiretroviral Therapy Eradicate HIV Epidemics?" *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2 (8): 487–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(02)00346-8.
- Visseaux, Benoît, Quentin Le Hingrat, Florence Damond, Charlotte Charpentier, and Diane Descamps. 2019. "Physiopathology of HIV-2 Infection." *Virologie* 23 (5): 277–91. https://doi.org/10.1684/vir.2019.0789.

Wandeler, Gilles, Leigh F. Johnson, and Matthias Egger. 2016. "Trends in Life Expectancy of HIV-Positive Adults on Antiretroviral Therapy across the Globe: Comparisons with General Population." *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS* 11 (5): 492–500. https://doi.org/10.1097/COH.0000000000298.

Watson, Meg, Shacara D. Johnson, Tianchi Zhang, and Alexandra M. Oster. 2019.
"Characteristics of and Trends in HIV Diagnoses in the Deep South Region of the United States, 2012–2017." *AIDS and Behavior* 23 (S3): 224–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02659-6.

Weiser, John, Linda Beer, Emma L. Frazier, Roshni Patel, Antigone Dempsey, Heather Hauck, and Jacek Skarbinski. 2015. "Service Delivery and Patient Outcomes in Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program–Funded and –Nonfunded Health Care Facilities in the United States." *JAMA Internal Medicine* 175 (10): 1650. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.4095.

Wessinger, Matthew H., Monique M. Hennink, Bonnie N. Kaiser, Jed P. Mangal, Runa H.
Gokhale, Lauren Ruchin, Abeer Moanna, David Rimland, Eugene W. Farber, and Vincent
C. Marconi. 2017. "Retention in HIV Care Depends on Patients' Perceptions of the Clinic
Experience." *AIDS Care* 29 (10): 1212–17.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2017.1308465.

- West, Cameron, Fenerty, Feldman, Kaplan, and Davis. 2012. "The Effect of Reminder Systems on Patients' Adherence to Treatment." *Patient Preference and Adherence*, February, 127. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S26314.
- "World Health Organization." n.d. Why the HIV Epidemic Is Not Over. https://www.who.int/news-room/spotlight/why-the-hiv-epidemic-is-not-over.

Yehia, Baligh R., Leslie Stewart, Florence Momplaisir, Aaloke Mody, Carol W. Holtzman, Lisa
M. Jacobs, Janet Hines, et al. 2015. "Barriers and Facilitators to Patient Retention in HIV
Care." *BMC Infectious Diseases* 15 (1): 246. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-015-0990-0.

Zorc, Joseph J., Richard J. Scarfone, Yuelin Li, Travis Hong, Melina Harmelin, Lev Grunstein, and Jalal B. Andre. 2003. "Scheduled Follow-up After a Pediatric Emergency Department Visit for Asthma: A Randomized Trial." *Pediatrics* 111 (3): 495–502. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.111.3.495.

# Appendix A

## **Script for Calling Patients Who Missed Appointments**

## How to Talk to No-Show Patients:

- Hi, am I speaking with Mr./Ms.?
- Hi, my name is Ajay Walther, I'm calling from the Emory Clinic, how're you doing this morning/afternoon/evening?
- Good, good. Before we proceed, may I verify your date of birth?
- Okay, I see. Are you on the patient portal?
  - (IF NO): So the patient portal allows you to keep track of all your medical appointments with Emory so that you don't have to rely on memory. It will also allow you to cancel your appointments if need be, that way you won't be charged for not being able to make it as opposed to missing your appointment. If you'd like, I can send you an invitation for access to the portal, I'll just need your email address.

• If they give email address, write down to send a portal invitation to patient

- **(IF YES):** Okay, perfect. That's good since it allows you to keep track of your Emory appointments. Also keep in mind that if you're not able to make your appointment ahead of time for whatever reason, you can use the portal to cancel your appointment, that way you won't be charged.
- So, we will need you to reschedule your missed appointment at your earliest convenience. If you have a pen and paper on hand, I can give you the number you'll need to call to do so.
  - o (404)-686-8114

## If Leaving a Message for No-Show's:

• Hi Mr./Ms. \_\_\_\_, this is Ajay Walther calling from the Emory clinic. If you get a chance, please call us back at \*(404)-617-4522, thank you and have a great day!

\*(404)-617-4522 is Patient Support Specialist's work-cell, I leave this as a callback # and coordinate with them....but if you have your own work-cell, leave that number in the message so they can call you back directly

### **Additional Notes:**

- If patient has transportation, food issues or anything else and requires assistance, give them their social worker's number/email address (only if they are a Ryan White patient)
- If a patient is rude or nasty, don't engage in similar behavior. Try to reason with patient but if this isn't possible, simply say "okay, have a nice day" and hang up phone

- Always remember that establishing patient confidentiality (as per HIPPA) is extremely important. If another individual answers the phone, attempt to ask if you can speak to the patient, otherwise don't engage as this could endanger patient's HIV status to family members or friends (basically just be careful about what information you give/don't give)
  - This also includes leaving messages, don't mention doctors' or social workers' names but just ask patient to call back

# Appendix B

## Script for Calling Patients to Remind of Appointments

## How to Talk to Patients for Appointment Reminders:

- Hi, am I speaking with Mr./Ms.?
- Hi, my name is Ajay Walther, I'm calling from the Emory Clinic, how're you doing this morning/afternoon?
- Good, good. Before we proceed, may I verify your date of birth?
- Perfect. The reason for my call is to remind you of your upcoming appointment with Dr. for on (date) at (time). Will you be able to make it?
  - If YES: perfect! We'll see you then! We're located at 550 Peachtree Street NE, on the 7th floor of the hospital.
  - o If NO: okay, would you then like to reschedule or cancel your appointment?
     Here's the number to do so: (404)-686-8114
- Amazing, well you have yourself a great day alright?

## How to Leave Messages for Appointment Reminders:

• Hi Mr./Ms., this is Ajay Walther calling from the Emory clinic in Midtown. We just wanted to remind you of your upcoming appointment with us for tomorrow (date) at (time). Your visit will be in-person/virtual, and we're located on the 7th floor of the Emory Hospital Midtown at 550 Peachtree Street NE. We're also walking distance from the Civic Center MARTA railway station off the red and gold lines if you're coming by train. If you're not able to make it and would like to cancel or reschedule your appointment, please call (404)-686-8114. Have yourself a great day and we'll hopefully see you tomorrow!